IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Myron Pollard

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

Vs.

. .

Ε.

† t. State of Mississippi

Action No.2008- CA- 00678 - COA

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Filed by Cheryl Ann Webster Attorney at Law Attorney for Myron Pollard Post Office Box 1342 Clarksdale, Ms. 38614 Tel 662-627-1193 Fax 662-627-3703 Certificate of Interested Persons in

. . .

No.2008- CA- 00678 - COA

Myron Pollard

Statement of the Issues	
Statement of the Case	Page 6
X	Page 7
Summary of the Argument	Page 9
Argument	Faye 5
	Page 10
Conclusion	Page 15
	-

•

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

TABLE OF CASES

Presley v. State, 792 So.2d 950, (2001)

••••••

f.

 Sanders v. State, 435 So.2d 1177, 1179 (Miss. 1983)

Sullivan v. State, 234 Miss. 611, 613-14, 107 So.2d 123, 124 (1958).

Table of Statutes

: . . .

ί.

1

UCCCR 10.05 . New Trials

UCCCR 8.04(5). Withdrawal of a plea of guilty

MCA 99-15-25. Entry of guilty pleas in vacation; sentencing records

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Myron Pollard

Vs.

i

APPELLANT

State of Mississippi

Action No.2008- CA- 00678 - COA

APPELLEE

Statement of Issues

 Whether or not the Circuit Court of Coahoma County, Ms. had jurisdiction to hear the Motion to set aside Pollard's involuntary guilty plea and Subsequent Sentencing Judgment and Motion demanding Trial?

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Myron Pollard

Vs.

:

ł

APPELLANT

Action No.2008- CA- 00678 - COA

State of Mississippi

APPELLEE

Statement of the Case

Pollard was indicted May 29th, 2007, in a two count indictment. The first count was for possession of cocaine and second count was for possession marijuana. (CP 1)

July 13, 2006, Pollard entered into a petition to enter plea of guilty. (CP 5)

July 16th, 2007, The Order Adjudicating guilt and deferring sentencing was entered in order for him to make application to drug Court on. Pollard made a written application to enter into drug court.(T.12) This Application is not contained in his Coahoma County Circuit Court file.

Prior to August 20th, 2007, a presentence report was prepared. Pollard's presentence report is not made a part of his public records in the Circuit Court.

August 20th, 2007, the Court sentenced Pollard to 15 years in Count one with a five thousand dollar fine and sentenced Pollard to pay a fine of \$250.00 in Count two. (CP 16) This sentence is to run concurrent with the sentence in 2007-0042. (CP16) Reference is made to an armed robbery charge and a simple assault and disorderly conduct charge, both of which he has not been convicted .(CP 17)

August 30th, 2007, the sentencing judgment was filed. (CP18)

September 6, 2007, Cheryl Ann Webster made an appearance of record .(CP 21)

September 6th, 2007 Webster filed a motion to set aside his involuntary guilty plea and subsequent sentencing judgment and Motion demanding Trial , serving the same on the District Attorney. (CP 22)

March 12, 2008, the Court set the motion for hearing. The Court refused to allow Pollard to proceed with the Motion or to make a proffer of proof in support of his motion. (T.19)

March 14th, 2008, the Circuit Court entered an order denying Pollard's motion due to the lack of jurisdiction to hear this case.(CP 37)

Feeling aggrieved by the decision, Pollard appeals this case.

.

į

ł

ł

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI Myron Pollard APPELLANT Vs. Action No.2008- CA- 00678 - COA State of Mississippi APPELLEE

Summary of the Argument

Issue One: Whether or not the Circuit Court of Coahoma County, Ms. the eleventh Circuit Court District had jurisdiction to hear the motion to set aside his involuntary guilty plea and Subsequent Sentencing Judgment and Motion demanding Trial?

Pollard relies on Uniform Circuit and County Court Practice Rule 10.05 New trials. Also included is UCCCR 8.04(5). Withdrawal of a plea of guilty. The actual sentencing Judgment was entered on August 30th, 2007 the Motion was filed on September 6, 2007 less than ten days. It was filed seven days after the sentencing judgment was entered well within the time allowed by law. There are no time limits set forth in the Rules as to when such a motion to withdraw a guilty plea may be filed.

.

i

Î.

į

ł

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI Myron Pollard APPELLANT Vs. Action No.2008- CA- 00678 - COA State of Mississippi APPELLEE

Argument

Issue One: Whether or not the Circuit Court of Coahoma County, Ms. had jurisdiction to hear the Motion to set aside his involuntary guilty plea and Subsequent Sentencing Judgment and Motion demanding Trial?

The Eleventh Circuit District Attorney's Office's response to Pollard's Motion Entitled "Motion so Set aside Guilty Plea and Subsequent sentencing judgment and motion demanding trial" (C.P. 34) indicates the Summer term of Circuit Court ended on August 17, 2007. (C.P. 34) The DA states that therefore the Defendant Pollard could not challenge the Sentencing Judgment in this case. In other words, Pollard was too late to file a motion pursuant to UCCCR 10.05 even though the Sentencing Judgment from which one defines the time of appeal was filed on August 30th, 2007(C.P. 37) some 13 days after the close of the term. (CP 1)

The supporting language in the UCCCR 10.05 ".....The court, on motion of a **defendant, may vacate judgment** (emphasis added) and dismiss the case without prejudice if the indictment or complaint did not charge an offense, or if the court was without jurisdiction, and bind the defendant over to the action of the

i

E

grand jury, or **take other proper steps regarding the defendant**." (Emphasis added) UCCC Rule 10.05, designated "New Trials", is an all encompassing rule for motions to be made prior to the running of the ten days. After ten days, a Judgment is final.

Pollard has asked the Court to do just as this says. Vacate the Judgment. Set him for trial.

The law is that if a final judgment is entered on the last day of the term, the Defendant still has ten days to file his motion. <u>Presley v. State</u>, 792 So.2d 950, (2001) ".... our holding that a circuit court cannot rule on motions which are not pending at the end of the term of court when sentencing was imposed does not apply to U.C.C.C.R. 10.05, which provides that a motion for a new trial should be filed within ten days of the entry of judgment. Therefore, if the judgment is entered on the last day of the term of court, a defendant still has ten days in which to file such a motion." (<u>Presley v. State</u>, id.) Does this mean that other motions such to vacate Judgments are to be filed within ten days? I think the answer is yes.

Pursuant to MCA 99-15-25. Entry of guilty pleas in vacation; sentencing records. (2) "All judgments and orders imposing sentences in vacation upon such pleas of guilty shall be entered upon the minutes of the proper court in vacation as though same were had and **entered during term time.** " (emphasis added) Even if the August 30th,2008 Sentencing Judgment is filed out of term, the

Î

{

ŝ

÷

Defendant has ten days to file a motion asking to have the guilty plea withdrawn essentially vacating the judgment, and demanding a new trial.

A post conviction petition is not required to have an illegal guilty plea set aside prior to the running of the ten days. The Court, however, is of the opinion that it is mandatory that a post conviction petition be filed. (T. 20) The Court and Pollard take issue with each other on this point.

Pollard subnmits if a Sentencing Judgment which is entered thirteen days after the close of a term, the Defendant is allowed ten days thereafter within which to file his motion to vacate pursuant to UCCCR.10.05.

The crux of the argument which was not heard by the Court is as follows: Pollard pled guilty if he was accepted into drug court. However, The order reads "The defense indicated for the record that the defendant was making application to Drug Court." (C.P. 15.) Pollard had already made application. (T.12)

Pollard's defense lawyer, David Tisdell, could not have made it clearer the reason for the guilty plea. When asked by the Court if there was an announcement in 2007-0042 and 2007-43, quoting from the transcript, Tisdell replies, "Yes your honor. In both cause numbers, 2007- 0042 and -43, Mr. Pollard wishes to withdraw his previously entered pleas of not guilty and enter please of guilty to both indictments to both counts -- to all counts, and request that he be **accepted** into the Eleventh Circuit Drug Court." (T. 5) (Emphasis

ŧ

Į.

added) Pollard did not ask to make application to drug Court; Pollard believed he would be accepted into Drug Court if he pled. The Court , in comments from the bench ,acknowledged that "... the defendant having made application to Drug Court." (T. 12)

These comments were memorialized into an interim order. (CP 14) This was not the Final Judgment. The Sentencing Judgment was entered on August 30th, 2007, would have been the Final judgment had ten days lapsed without appeal.

The issue before the Court is whether or not the motion to set aside his involuntary guilty plea and Subsequent Sentencing Judgment and Motion demanding Trial was filed timely. Does the Court have jurisdiction to hear this motion and consider it? Clearly the Court maintains jurisdiction until the Sentencing Judgment becomes final. This is not an appeal on the merits of the motion, but only on whether or not the motion was timely filed. It was. The sentencing was not done during the term. There is no indication or record of when or why he was actually rejected from Drug Court because of the star chamber nature of Drug Court. These facts must be developed in a hearing before the Court in order to be a complete record. It is common for the sentencing judgment to be entered after the close of the term. The Court does this as a matter of course.

Under the Federal rules, a motion for withdrawal of a plea may be made at any time before sentencing and, on sufficient showing, even after sentencing. 3

- -

i

Charles Alan Wright, <u>Federal Practice and Procedure: Criminal 2d</u> Sec 537, at 188 (1982) as quoted in <u>Presley v. State</u>, 792 So.2d 950, (Miss. 2001)

During the term of Court, there was nothing in the record which would give thought that Pollard would be denied Drug Court. His sentencing is the only evidence that he was rejected after agreeing to plead guilty upon acceptance. Pursuant to UCCCR 10.05, Pollard demands that his guilty pleas be withdrawn and a trial set. He made his demands in a timely manner.

The Court indicates that once the sentencing judgment was filed that Pollard's only avenue for success is a post conviction petition. Pollard maintains this is error. Filing a motion for a post conviction before the ten days had run is premature. The Circuit Court did not allow Myron Pollard to make a record or present evidence that on the main issue he was to present that his guilty plea rested in a significant degree upon a promise or agreement as the inducement.

I submit that a conviction becomes final ten days after the Sentencing Judgment is filed if no appeal is taken. "Although not at issue here, we note that a defendant has the right to withdraw his guilty plea at any time prior to a conviction becoming final." <u>Sanders v. State</u>, <u>435 So.2d 1177</u>, 1179 (Miss. 1983); <u>Sullivan v. State</u>, 234 Miss. 611, 613-14, <u>107 So.2d 123</u>, 124 (1958). Both of these decisions were made prior to the adoption of the UCCCR which was adopted in 1995. Because the Motion to withdraw was filed within the ten days pursuant to the Rules, after the filing of the Sentencing Judgment, the conviction

ī

i

È

- 14 -

was not final. This Court could have acted. Pollard should have been allowed to proceed with his motion, put on proof, been heard, and made a record in the criminal case. Had his motion then been denied, then he would have filed for Post Conviction Relief.

This Appellate Court has to answer two questions. 1) When does a Conviction become final? I am of the opinion that it is a Final Judgment, ten days after the Sentencing Judgment is filed with the Clerk. What is the last day a Defendant may file a motion to withdraw his guilty plea in the original criminal case? I am of the opinion that he can file a motion to withdraw his plea in a criminal case, until the 11th day after the sentencing judgment has been filed. On the eleventh day, his only relief is a motion for post conviction relief.

Conclusion

Pollard asks this Court to remand his motion for hearing and that a record be made.