IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MYRON POLLARD

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-0678-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

MYRON POLLARD appeals directly to this Court from an order entered on March 12, 2008, by the Circuit Court of Coahoma County, Albert B. Smith, III., Circuit Judge, presiding,

denying summarily Pollard's pleading styled "Motion to Set Aside Involuntary Guilty Plea and Subsequent Sentencing Judgment and Motion Demanding Trial." (C.P. at 22-28; appellee's exhibit A, attached)

This motion was filed post-plea and post-sentence as an independent action separate and apart from the statutory procedure provided by the Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act.

Judge Smith's two page order denying relief states, in part, that

"... the Court is of the opinion that it is without jurisdiction to hear the present motion. The term of court in which the Defendant entered his plea has expired, and the Court did not retain jurisdiction over this matter past sentencing. The only avenue available to the Defendant at this time is through the uniform post-conviction collateral relief act." (C.P. at 37-38; appellee's exhibit A, attached)

We agree.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 13, 2007, following a plea-qualification hearing, Pollard entered open and voluntary guilty pleas in two separate cause numbers to four counts of possession of controlled substances, to include codeine, cocaine, and marijuana. (R. 1-12)

During the hearing defense counsel told the judge they would be "requesting Drug Court."

(R. 4) According to defense counsel

"[i]n both cause numbers, 2007-0042 and -43, Mr. Pollard wishes to withdraw his previously entered pleas of guilty to both indictments to both counts - - to all counts, and request that he be accepted into the Eleventh Circuit Drug Court." (R. 5)

After qualifying Pollard's guilty pleas and finding them to have been "freely, voluntarily, knowingly and understandingly given," the court elected to "... defer sentence pending a presentence investigation report, the defendant having made application to Drug Court." (R. 12)

On August 20, 2007, a hearing was held at which time Judge Smith imposed, *inter alia*, two 15 year sentences to run concurrent, together with certain fines. (R. 13, 16,17)

All was well until Pollard learned his drug court application had been rejected by the drug court team. On September 6, 2007, Pollard filed a motion asking the court to set aside his allegedly involuntary pleas and demanding a trial by jury. (C.P. at 22-28) This was two (2) months following Pollard's pleas of guilty, two (2) weeks following sentence imposition, and after expiration of the term of court at which Pollard had entered his pleas.

The State contested the motion in an answer filed March 11th, 2008. (C.P. at 34-36)

A hearing was conducted on March 12, 2008, during which the State vigorously opposed the motion. Pollard twice rejected Judge Smith's invitation to treat Pollard's motion as one filed under the Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act. (R. 17-18, 20)

In the end, Judge Smith denied Pollard's motion on the ground he had no jurisdiction to entertain the subject matter. (R. 19; C.P. at 37-38)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court can affirm the decision of the trial judge denying relief on the ground he did not have jurisdiction of the subject matter. Such would be without prejudice to Pollard to reform his motion and file it as a motion for post-conviction relief under the provisions of the Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act, Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-1 et seq. Moody v. State, 915 So.2d 1130 (¶4) (Ct.App.Miss. 2005), citing Presley v. State, 792 So.2d 950, 954 (¶18) (Miss. 2001), quoting Harrigill v. State, 403 So.2d 867, 868-69 (Miss. 1981).

Or this Court can treat Pollard's attempt to change his plea as a request for post-conviction relief and deny same with prejudice. **Barnes v. State**, 937 So.2d 1006 (Miss. 2006).

ARGUMENT

In an order signed by Circuit Judge Smith on October 13, 2006, and entered on October 16th, Judge Smith concluded he had no jurisdiction over this matter because "[t]he term of court in which the Defendant entered his plea has since expired, and the Court did not retain jurisdiction over this matter past sentencing." (R. 33-38)

We respectfully submit that Pollard's motion to withdraw was properly denied for this reason, if for no other. Creel v. State, 944 So.2d 891, 893-94 (Miss. 2006); Denton v. Maples, 394 So.2d 895, 898-99 (Miss. 1981).

But even if it was not, we are not aware of any viable authority for direct appeal of a denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea.

"Convictions as a result of a guilty plea are statutorily prohibited from being directly appealed to an appellate court." **Gladney v. State,** 963 So.2d 1217, 1222 (¶14) (Ct.App.Miss. 2007). If this is true, it stands to reason there can be no direct appeal from a motion to withdraw a guilty plea.

"The Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act provides the exclusive and uniform procedure for the collateral review of convictions and sentences in the state." **Bailey v. State**, 953 So.2d 1132, 1133 (¶4) (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) citing **Judge v. State**, 933 So.2d 1012, 1013 (¶4) (Ct.App.Miss. 2006).

"The proper method of seeking relief [on convictions as a result of a guilty plea] is through the Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act." **Gladney v. State**, *supra*, 963 So.2d 1217, 1222 (¶14) (Ct.App.Miss. 2007).

During the hearing conducted on March 12, 2008, counsel for Pollard twice declined Judge Smith's invitation to treat Pollard's motion to withdraw as "a post-conviction" filed under the

Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act. (R. 18-19)

The State's position on this matter is found in the following colloquy:

MR. BLECK: Judge, if she's going to not proceed under post-conviction relief, I don't think we do anything. I think the question is whether we have jurisdiction exclusively. I think we don't have jurisdiction. And at that point, you know, the only way she can appeal this, the only valid way to appeal this is via-post-conviction relief even to the Supreme Court because he pled guilty. So you can't do an out of time appeal. You can't do an appeal period other than post-conviction relief, of which one of the exact grounds for it is you claim your plea was involuntary. It's one of the enumerated statutory reasons. It's the only place in the statutes you've got the right to plead guilty and then have an appeal to the Supreme Court. I think we're wasting our time if we do it any other way.

THE COURT: I think he's correct, Counsel. (R. 18-19)

We agree.

In the recent decision styled **Krickbaum v. State**, No. 2007-CP-01421-COA (¶3. and ¶4.) [Not Yet Reported], we find the following language that we believe is applicable to the present appeal:

It is important to note that Krickbaum solely moved for a copy of her transcript and her circuit court records. Krickbaum did not file a petition for post-conviction collateral relief. Now, she appeals the circuit court's decision to deny her motion for a copy of her transcript and records. However, Krickbaum "does not have a constitutional or common law right to appeal to this Court: instead, [her] ability to appeal is based entirely on statute." *Shanks v. State*, 906 So.2d 760, 761 (¶3) (Miss.Ct.App.2004) (citing *Fleming v. State*, 553 So.2d 505, 506 (Miss. 1989)).

"There are two primary ways a criminal defendant may challenge a trial court proceeding: a direct appeal from conviction under Miss.Code Ann. §99-35-101 (Rev. 20020 or a proceeding under the Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act, Miss.Code Ann. §§99-39-1 to 29 (Rev.2000 & Supp. 2004)." *Id.* Because Krickbaum pled guilty to armed robbery, she forfeited her right to a direct appeal of her conviction. Miss.Code Ann. §99-35-101 (Rev. 2007). Therefore, Krickbaum's only available

alternative to challenge her conviction is by way of the Mississippi Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act. Krickbaum's request for a free copy of her transcript and circuit court record did not accompany a petition for post-conviction collateral relief.

Although the trial court action appealed from in **Krickbaum** was a denial of a motion for production of records as opposed to a motion to withdraw a guilty plea, the facts are analogous and the law the same.

We are compelled to agree with Judge Smith he had no jurisdiction to hear this matter. There was no motion pending at the end of the term in which sentencing was imposed; rather, Pollard's motion to withdraw pleas was filed on September 6, 2007, *after* both Pollard's sentencing on August 20 as well as the expiration of the term on August 17, 2007. (C.P. at 34) *See also* Miss.Code Ann. §11-1-16.

In this posture, the case of **Barnes v. State**, *supra*, 937 So.2d 1006, 1008 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006), is quite relevant and relied upon here. Barnes, like Pollard, pled guilty and later filed a post-sentence motion for change of his plea. In treating Barnes's attempt to change his plea as a request for post-conviction relief, the court of appeals stated the following:

As stated, supra, Barnes filed a motion for change of plea, but this Court will treat his attempt to change his plea as a request for post-conviction collateral relief. Absent a statute to the contrary, a circuit court has no power to alter or vacate its judgment once the term in which the case was terminated has ended. Moody v. State. 915 So.2d 1130 (¶4) (Miss.Ct.App. 2005) (citing *Presley v. State*, 792 So.2d 950 (¶18)(Miss. 2001). Barnes['s] plea hearing was held June 2, 2005, and his sentencing hearing was held June 17, 2005. The term of the Circuit Court of Pike County, relevant to Barnes's motion, was the first Monday in June 2005, which turned out to be June 6, for a term of two weeks, or through June 17. Barnes filed his motion for change of plea on July 18, 2005, well past the term of court in which he pled guilty or was sentenced. Therefore, the trial court had no authority to grant Barnes's motion, and said motion must [be] reviewed in accordance with Mississippi Code Annotated §99-39-1. et seq., (Rev. 2000). Additionally, as evidence of Barnes's intent that said motion be viewed as a request for post-conviction collateral relief, in his motion for change of plea he stated, "The petitioner is without competent [sic] legal representation but seeks post conviction relief...."

Cf. Peacock v. State, 970 So.2d 197, 199 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) [Trial Court's acceptance of guilty plea had not become a final judgment, as the court had not sentenced Peacock and was still in the same term when it set aside the guilty plea.]

Pollard, unlike Barnes, expressly declined Judge Smith's invitation to treat his motion as a motion for post-conviction relief thus negating the intent found in **Barnes**. Nevertheless, we invite this Court to treat Pollard's motion as a motion for post-conviction relief and, ala **Barnes**, deny same on this basis.

The record reflects that Pollard's pleas were open pleas not based upon any recommendation, promise, or inducement - improper or otherwise - made by the prosecution, including Pollard's participation in the drug court program which, at best, was a mere hope or expectation by Pollard as opposed to a firm representation by the State.

Pollard's reliance upon Rule 10.05 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules is misplaced. Rule 10.05 governs the procedure for the filing of a motion for a "new" trial based upon any of the grounds identified in l. through 6.

Pollard, however, never had an "old" trial; rather, he elected to enter a plea of guilty. A guilty plea is not a trial, and a motion to withdraw a guilty plea is not the equivalent of a motion for a new trial. Pollard asserts "[t]his is not an appeal on the merits of the motion [to withdraw guilty plea et cetera] but only on whether or not the motion was timely filed." (Appellant's Brief at 3) This question, as well as the two questions presented in appellant's brief at page 15, need not be decided because Rule 10.05 is simply not implicated in this case.

In the case of **Presley v. State**, *supra*, 792 So.2d 950, 953 (Miss. 2001), cited and relied upon by Pollard, there is language to the effect that "[u]nder the federal rule, a motion for withdrawal of a plea may be made at any time *before* sentencing and, on a sufficient showing, even after sentencing." [emphasis ours] The latter alternative applies only to correct a manifest injustice. We certainly do not have this here. *See* **United States v. Brewster**, 137 F.3rd 853 (5th Cir. 1998), reh denied, cert denied [A defendant has no absolute right to withdraw a guilty plea.]

In addition to suggesting his pleas were induced by some sort of expectation he would be selected for participation in the drug court program, Pollard also claimed as a ground for a favorable ruling on his motion to withdraw "... there was no underlying factual basis to support the plea(s)." (C.P. at 25)

We reiterate.

"The proper method of seeking relief [on convictions as a result of a guilty plea] is through the Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act." **Gladney v. State**, *supra*, 963 So.2d 1217, 1222 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007).

Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-5 (1) (f) of the Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act reads as follows:

(1) Any prisoner in custody under sentence of a court of record of the state of Mississippi who claims:

(f) That his plea was involuntary;

(i) That the conviction or sentence is otherwise subject to collateral attack upon any grounds of alleged error heretofore available under any common law, statutory or other writ, motion, petition, proceeding or remedy; may file a motion to vacate, set aside or correct the judgment or sentence, or for an

out-of-time appeal.

Pollard's remedy, if any, is to file in the trial court in complete compliance with the requirements of §99-39-1 et. seq. a motion for post-conviction relief assailing the integrity of his guilty pleas.

Finally, Pollard complains about the trial judge's decision to decline to entertain his profert. Counsel does not, however, specifically identify in her appellate brief what evidence Pollard's profert would have brought to light. She only states that Pollard's guilty plea rested in a significant degree upon a promise or agreement as the inducement. No abuse of judicial discretion has been demonstrated here. **Massengill v. State,** 755 So.2d 492 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999), reh denied [The decision to allow withdrawal of a guilty plea is a matter left to the sound discretion of the trial court.]

For these reasons the ruling issued by Judge Smith should be affirmed either with prejudice or without prejudice to Pollard to file in the court below a motion for post-conviction relief.

CONCLUSION

Pollard's direct appeal is without merit on the merits because the only method of assailing an allegedly involuntary guilty plea is the procedure found in the Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act, Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-1 et. seq.

Accordingly, the trial judge did not have jurisdiction to hear this matter. There was certainly no abuse of judicial discretion in denying Pollard's motion to withdraw his pleas of guilty.

Relief should either be denied with prejudice or Pollard's appeal dismissed without prejudice to Pollard to file a motion for post-conviction relief in the trial court.